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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO
Criminal Case No.
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
v.
1.
2.
3.

STEVEN J. MASCARENAS
KATHY J. MASCARENAS a/k/a KATHY OLIVER
KATRINA Y. ROBERTS
Defendants.

________________________________________________________________________
INDICTMENT
18 U.S.C. § 1343
18 U.S.C. § 2(a)
18 U.S.C. § 1957

The Grand Jury charges:
The Scheme
1.

Beginning on or about December 1, 2004 and continuing thereafter until on

or about February 28, 2007 in the District of Colorado, Defendant Steven J. Mascarenas,
aided and abetted by Defendants Kathy J. Mascarenas and Katrina Y. Roberts, did knowingly
devise and intend to devise a scheme to defraud lenders that funded mortgage loans and for
obtaining money from them by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises, hereinafter referred to as “the scheme”.
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2.

It was part of the scheme that:
(a)

Defendant Steven J. Mascarenas, an attorney and licensed real estate

broker, orchestrated the purchase and resale of residential properties in “The Broadlands”,
a subdivision in Broomfield, Colorado. He arranged to have individuals serve as “credit
buyers” to obtain loans, purchase the properties, and in all but one instance, resell them
shortly thereafter at inflated prices to other “credit buyers” in his select group. Steven
Mascarenas concealed from the lenders that these “credit buyers”, (hereinafter referred to as
“buyers”), were only acting at his direction and, in many cases, were being compensated after
the closings for their participation in having obtained the loans and purchased the properties.
(b)

There were six purchases and five resales in all. They were:

Property Address

Purchase/
Resale

Date

Lenders

4596 Castle Circle
Broomfield, CO

Purchase

12/23/04

Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.

4596 Castle Circle
Broomfield, CO

Resale

4/7/05

Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.

3833 Broadlands Lane
Broomfield, CO

Purchase

1/14/05

Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.

3833 Broadlands Lane
Broomfield, CO

Resale

4/27/05

Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.

13856 Muirfield Cir.
Broomfield, CO

Purchase

4/25/05

Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.

13856 Muirfield Cir.
Broomfield, CO

Resale

8/2/05

American Home Mortgage Acceptance, Inc.;
American Brokers Conduit

4331 Crestone Cir.
Broomfield, CO

Purchase

7/1/05

Cherry Creek Mortgage Company

4331 Crestone Cir.
Broomfield, CO

Resale

3/13/05

Argent Mortgage Co., LLC
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4182 Broadmoor Loop
Broomfield, CO

Purchase

9/2/05

Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB

4182 Broadmoor Loop
Broomfield, CO

Resale

2/20/07

The Mortgage Store of Denver, Inc.

4545 Castle Lane
Broomfield, CO

Purchase

10/31/05

Axis Mortgage & Investments a Division of
Biltmore Bank of Arizona

(c)

Defendant Katrina Y. Roberts, a licensed real estate appraiser, assisted

by preparing appraisal reports for all of the purchases and three of the resales. All of her
reports falsely represented that the properties’ market values were substantially higher than
they actually were. These reports were submitted to the lenders as evidence of the purported
true market value of the properties. Roberts’ inflated appraisals facilitated the generation of
substantial proceeds at the closings for the resales. For the last property, her inflated appraisal
facilited the generation of substantial proceeds at the closing for the purchase. Steven
Mascarenas caused those proceeds to be distributed to entities which his wife, Defendant
Kathy J. Mascarenas, and/or his two associates controlled.
(d)

Kathy Mascarenas conducted financial transactions as necessary to

facilitate, perpetuate, and conceal the fraud. For example, she issued checks and purchased
cashier’s checks for the buyers’ earnest money and down payments; she issued checks and
obtained a cashier’s check to compensate the buyers for their participation; and she deposited
loan proceeds into accounts under her control. She used entities which concealed Steven
Mascarenas’ involvement as the orchestrator of the scheme and obscured the extent of her
own involvement . She sometimes used her maiden name, Kathy Oliver, or entities created
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under that name.
(e)

Steven Mascarenas chose individuals who had good credit histories and

who hoped to benefit from what he portrayed as legitimate business opportunities to
participate as the buyers. He led them to believe that they would not be responsible for
making the mortgage payments or paying any of the costs, but would only be allowing him
to use their credit to obtain loans and purchase properties in their names until the properties
could be resold. Steven Mascarenas’ choice of buyers was designed to eliminate the need to
publicly advertise the properties for the resales, which would have brought attention to the
grossly inflated resale prices. His choice of buyers was also designed to ensure that he
maintained control over the transactions.
(f)

Steven Mascarenas acted as the buyers’ real estate agent for the

purchases, and arranged to have them acquire properties which had been listed for sale on
the open market and were being sold at market value.
(g)

Katrina Roberts prepared appraisal reports for the purchases of the six

properties in the scheme. In them, she falsely represented that the fair market values of the
properties were from $100,000 to $325,000 greater than their actual sales prices.
(h)

To make the inflated values in all of her reports appear legitimate,

Katrina Roberts falsely represented that the purchases, which were actually sales at market
value, were “distressed” sales or “quick” sales below market value, and/or that the properties
had been “exposed on the open market at below market value”.
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(i)

Roberts also made her appraisal reports appear legitimate by choosing

more valuable properties as comparables. To do this, she chose comparables that were
located near the subject properties, but which had sold for much more than the subject
properties in the past. The comparables she chose were substantially more valuable than the
subject properties, primarily because of their quality custom construction and their superior
location. Roberts falsely represented that she had made adjustments which took into account
any significant feature of a comparable property which was superior to that of the subject
property, when she had not. In fact, for her comparisons, she usually chose properties
located in “The Island”, a gated community in the Broadlands, but never made any
adjustments for the added value which that location warranted.
(j)

Having already obtained Katrina Roberts’ inflated appraisals for the

purchases of the properties, and having chosen buyers who were not conducting arm’s-length
transactions or negotiating the prices they would pay, Steven Mascarenas was able to set
substantially higher prices for the resales. He set the prices for the resales far beyond their
true market values, and arranged for the buyers to obtain 100% or nearly 100% financing for
them. For the resales of the first three properties, Katrina Roberts also created appraisal
reports. In these reports, she again falsely represented that the properties’ value was greater
than it was, based on the same or similar false representations she had made in her first
reports for those properties.
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(k)

To ensure that the desired funding would be approved for the buyers for

both the purchases and the resales, Steven Mascarenas caused false information about their
qualifications and intentions to be incorporated into their loan applications where necessary
to enable them to qualify for the loans. For example, knowing that lenders were more likely
to give better interest rates on loans to borrowers who would be occupying the property as
their primary residences, Steven Mascarenas caused many of the loan applications to falsely
reflect that the borrower intended to reside in the property as his primary residence.
Mascarenas also caused many of the loan applications to falsely represent that the buyers
would be renting their actual residences to third parties, and arranged for fraudulent leases
to be created and submitted to the lenders in support of those applications. These falsehoods
were designed to corroborate the false representations that the borrowers intended to be
owner-occupants of the properties they were purchasing; they also served to increase the
amount of the borrowers’ stated income. Steven Mascarenas also caused false representations
to be made to the lenders regarding such factors as the borrowers’ incomes, job stability,
assets, and/or debts. Kathy Mascarenas participated in making such false representations
when she became the buyer of two of the properties in the scheme.
(l)

When necessary to ensure the proceeds from the second sales would

be directed to entities of his choice without revealing his involvement in the fraud, Steven
Mascarenas caused the closers to be informed just prior to closing that the sellers wished to
have their proceeds distributed to certain companies. To make these distributions appear

6

Case 1:10-cr-00221-REB Document 1 Filed 04/22/10 USDC Colorado Page 7 of 11

legitimate, he sometimes caused false and fictitious promissory notes and payoff statements
to be presented to the closers. The entities to which the proceeds were distributed in this
fashion were companies bearing names which revealed no obvious link to either Steven
Mascarenas or Kathy Mascarenas, but were in fact organizations that Kathy Mascarenas
and/or Steven Mascarenas had created, and whose bank accounts Kathy Mascarenas
controlled. Proceeds were also distributed to an organization controlled by two Mascarenas
associates.
(m)

At the outset of the scheme, Steven Mascarenas persuaded these two

associates, who were relative novices to real estate investing, to join him in his plan to profit
from real estate transactions involving the use of “credit buyers”. Knowing that these men
were desirous of purchasing two Subway sandwich shops owned by his wife, Kathy
Mascarenas, he offered them the opportunity to acquire large sums with which they could
buy the shops by working with him on the purchase and resale of properties in the
Broadlands. He took advantage of their relative naivete and their trust in his knowledge and
experience in matters relating to real estate transactions, investments, and the law.
(n)

For the last property, Steven Mascarenas arranged to obtain a

substantial bonus at the time of the purchase, but no resale was consummated as part of the
scheme.
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Counts 1-7
(Wire Fraud)
3.

Paragraphs 1 and 2 are incorporated into Counts 1 through 7, as though

fully set forth in their entirety.
4.

On or about the date listed below for each count, in the District of Colorado,

Defendants Steven J. Mascarenas, Kathy J. Mascarenas, and Katrina Y. Roberts did, for the
purpose of executing the scheme described in Paragraphs 1 and 2 of this indictment,
knowingly cause writings, signs, and signals to be transmitted in interstate commerce from
and to the states named for that count by means of wire communication as described for that
count, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2(a):
Count

Date

From

To

Communication

1

4/27/05

California

Colorado

Fax notification of receipt of
transfers in the amounts of
$162,400.00 and $647,172.74 in
connection with loans for the
purchase of 3833 Broadlands
Lane, Broomfield, CO.

2

4/25/05

New Jersey

Colorado

Wire transfer of $472,165.94 in
connection with a loan for the
purchase of 13856 Muirfield
Circle, Broomfield, CO.

3

4/25/05

New Jersey

Colorado

Wire transfer of $60,000.00 in
connection with a loan for the
purchase of 13856 Muirfield
Circle, Broomfield, CO.

4

8/2/05

New Jersey

Colorado

Wire transfer of $570,836.09 in
connection with a loan for the
purchase of 13856 Muirfield
Circle, Broomfield, CO.
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5

8/2/05

New Jersey

Colorado

Wire transfer of $242,824.37 in
connection with a loan for the
purchase of 13856 Muirfield
Circle, Broomfield, CO.

6

9/6/05

Colorado

California

Internet communication
regarding verification of receipt
of $493,388.52 and $91,978.44
by Comerica Bank in connection
with loans for the purchase of
4182 Broadmoor Loop,
Broomfield, CO.

7

10/31/05

Colorado

California

Internet communication
regarding verification of receipt
of $601,376.59 and $150,625.36
by Comerica Bank in connection
with loans for the purchase of
4545 Castle Lane, Broomfield,
CO

Count 8-11
(Wire Fraud)
5.

Paragraphs 1 and 2 are incorporated into Counts 8 through 11, as though fully

set forth in their entirety.
6.

On or about the date listed below for each count, in the District of Colorado,

Defendants Steven J. Mascarenas and Kathy J. Mascarenas did, for the purpose of executing
the scheme described in Paragraphs 1 and 2 of this indictment, knowingly cause writings,
signs, and signals to be transmitted in interstate commerce from and to the states named for
that count by means of wire communication as described for that count, all in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2(a):
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Count

Date

From

To

Communication

8

3/13/06

New Jersey

Colorado

Wire transfer of $801,296.87 in
connection with a loan for the
purchase of 4331 Crestone
Circle, Broomfield, CO.

9

2/21/07

Missouri

Colorado

E-mail notification of receipt of
transfer of $580,000.00 in
connection with a loan for the
purchase of 4182 Broadmoor
Loop, Broomfield, CO

10

2/21/07

Missouri

Colorado

E-mail notification of receipt of
transfer of $145,000.00 in
connection with a loan for the
purchase of 4182 Broadmoor
Loop, Broomfield, CO

11

2/22/07

New Jersey

Colorado

Wire transfer of $103,518.24 in
connection with the sale of 4182
Broadmoor Loop, Broomfield,
CO.

Count 12
(Engaging in Monetary Transaction in Property Derived from Unlawful Activity)
5.

On or about February 23, 2007, in the District of Colorado, Defendant

Kathy J. Mascarenas did knowingly engage and attempt to engage in a monetary transaction
in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000 which was derived from
specified unlawful activity, namely wire fraud, as defined in Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1343, by exchanging check number 4224, drawn on J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.
account 1192652756, and payable to Kathy Mascarenas in the amount of $40,357.18 for
Chase official check number 036587639, payable to HGE Investments LLC in the amount
of $40,357.18, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957.
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A TRUE BILL
Ink signature on file in the Clerk’s Office
FOREPERSON
DAVID M. GAOUETTE
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
By: __s/ Linda Kaufman_______________________
Linda Kaufman
Assistant United States Attorney
1225 Seventeenth Street, Suite 700
Denver, Colorado 80202
Telephone: (303) 454-0100
Facsimile: (303) 454-0404
E-mail: Linda.Kaufman@usdoj.gov
Attorney for Government
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DEFENDANT:

Steven J. Mascarenas

YOB:

1959

ADDRESS:

Westminster, Colorado

COMPLAINT FILED?

YES

X

NO

IF YES, PROVIDE MAGISTRATE CASE NUMBER:
IF NO, PROCEED TO “OFFENSE” SECTION
HAS DEFENDANT BEEN ARRESTED ON COMPLAINT?

YES

X

NO

IF NO, A NEW WARRANT IS REQUIRED
OFFENSE:

Counts 1-11: Wire Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 2.

LOCATION OF OFFENSE: Broomfield County, Colorado
(COUNTY/CITY/STATE)
PENALTY:

Counts 1-11 (Each Count): NMT 20 years’ imprisonment and/or NMT $250,000
fine; $100.00 Special Assessment Fee.

AGENT:

Special Agent Scott Doner, F.B.I.

AUTHORIZED BY:

Linda Kaufman
Assistant U.S. Attorney

ESTIMATED TIME OF TRIAL:
five days or less

X

over five days

other

THE GOVERNMENT
X

will seek detention in this case

will not seek detention in this case

The statutory presumption of detention is not applicable to this defendant.
OCDETF CASE:
Yes
X
No
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DEFENDANT:

Kathy J. Mascarenas a/k/a Kathy Oliver

YOB:

1959

ADDRESS:

Westminster, Colorado

COMPLAINT FILED?

YES

X

NO

IF YES, PROVIDE MAGISTRATE CASE NUMBER:
IF NO, PROCEED TO “OFFENSE” SECTION
HAS DEFENDANT BEEN ARRESTED ON COMPLAINT?

YES

X

NO

IF NO, A NEW WARRANT IS REQUIRED
OFFENSE:

Counts 1-11: Wire Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 2;
Count 12: Monetary Transaction in Property Derived from Specified Unlawful
Activity (18 U.S.C. § 1957);

LOCATION OF OFFENSE: Broomfield County, Colorado
(COUNTY/CITY/STATE)
PENALTY:

Counts 1-11 (Each Count): NMT 20 years’ imprisonment and/or NMT $250,000
fine; $100.00 Special Assessment Fee;
Count 12 : NMT 10 years and/or NMT $250,000 fine; $100 Special Assessment Fee.

AGENT:

Special Agent Scott Doner, F.B.I.

AUTHORIZED BY:

Linda Kaufman
Assistant U.S. Attorney

ESTIMATED TIME OF TRIAL:
five days or less

X

over five days

other

THE GOVERNMENT
X

will seek detention in this case

will not seek detention in this case

The statutory presumption of detention is not applicable to this defendant.
OCDETF CASE:
Yes
X
No
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DEFENDANT:

Katrina Y. Roberts

YOB:

1973

ADDRESS:

East Lake, Colorado

COMPLAINT FILED?

YES

X

NO

IF YES, PROVIDE MAGISTRATE CASE NUMBER:
IF NO, PROCEED TO “OFFENSE” SECTION
HAS DEFENDANT BEEN ARRESTED ON COMPLAINT?

YES

X

NO

IF NO, A NEW WARRANT IS REQUIRED
OFFENSE:

Counts 1-7: Wire Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 2.

LOCATION OF OFFENSE: Broomfield County, Colorado
(COUNTY/CITY/STATE)
PENALTY:

Counts 1-7 (Each Count): NMT 20 years’ imprisonment and/or NMT $250,000 fine;
$100.00 Special Assessment Fee.

AGENT:

Special Agent Scott Doner, F.B.I.

AUTHORIZED BY:

Linda Kaufman
Assistant U.S. Attorney

ESTIMATED TIME OF TRIAL:
five days or less

X

over five days

other

THE GOVERNMENT
will seek detention in this case

X

will not seek detention in this case

The statutory presumption of detention is not applicable to this defendant.
OCDETF CASE:
Yes
X
No

